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Abstract: An analysis of the early history of digging at Kom Aushim and the Museum 
archaeology of Karanis papyri purchased on the Egyptian antiquities market is 
combined with archaeological data from the University of Michigan’s excavations 
to locate purchased papyri in the archaeological record.
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Texts from Karanis – the modern Kom Aushim1 – have been a staple of papyrolog-
ical studies from the beginning. In the half-century or so following the first Fayum 
discovery of 1877, hundreds of Karanis papyri appeared on the Egyptian antiqui-
ties market and were brought to Berlin, London, Chicago, and elsewhere.2 In the 
same period, institutional acquisitions of a different sort came via archaeological 
excavation. For a single season (1895/6), David Hogarth and Bernard Grenfell dug 
for papyri on behalf of the Egypt Exploration Fund and, nearly thirty years later, 
the University of Michigan returned to the kôm for a more systematic campaign 
(1924–1935). The Michigan dig documented nearly all aspects of the ancient village’s 
material culture, including some 5,000 papyri, ostraca, and tablets, many of which 
have since been repatriated.3

1 Transliterations of the modern, Arabic toponym vary (e.  g. ‘Aushim,’ ‘Wezim,’ ‘Washim,’ ‘Ushim’), 
and although I have adopted ‘Aushim’ as a default, where particular historical record(s) employ a 
different spelling I report it as written.
2 On the first Fayum discovery, see the introduction to P.Rain.Cent. (esp. pp. 1–7); P.Fay. pp. 17–26; 
Breccia 1936, 297–305; Davoli 2015, 88–91. Data provided by Trismegistos for published papyri with 
the provenance ‘Karanis’ lists fifty individual collections, a figure which includes those housing 
excavated items such as Cairo’s Egyptian Museum as well as both the Kelsey Museum and Papyrol-
ogy Collection in Ann Arbor. For Trismegistos, see Depauw/Gheldof 2014.
3 Although the texts include papyri, ostraca, and tablets, I will henceforth use the term ‘papyri’ 
inclusively in referring to portable, inscribed media of all types. On the complicated history of the 
excavated Karanis papyri, Michigan’s partage agreement with the Egyptian Antiquities Service, 
and the repatriation of ca. 3,000 items, see Haug 2021.
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This paper explores the earliest acquisitions of Karanis papyri from several 
perspectives in an attempt to shed new light on their origins, broadly conceived. 
It begins with the early history of digging at Kom Aushim and continues with the 
Museum archaeology of early purchases, with an eye to conceptualizing the paths 
that papyri took to their institutional homes, from their discovery in situ to the 
Egyptian antiquities market, through the hands of dealers and collectors. Of par-
ticular interest are clusters of related papyri acquired by purchase and the pos-
sibility that they share an archaeological origin. Although archaeological science 
holds that only a documented provenience can establish certainty on this front, I 
argue that the Museum archaeology of purchases made on the antiquities market 
is nonetheless of considerable value, with the texts pertaining to Mikkalos son of 
Petheus providing a case in point. They are unique because of the circumstances 
of their acquisition: the fragments were acquired not only on the early antiquities 
market, but also, decades later, in the course of the University of Michigan excava-
tions, in the neighborhood dubbed ‘Area G’. The combined evidence of Museum 
archaeology and field archaeology permits the purchased items pertaining to Mik-
kalos to be located in the archaeological record, a radical discovery which prompts 
the reanalysis of the neighborhood as a whole and both its broader papyrological 
and archaeological legacies, including its literary papyri.

1 �Digging the Kôm
The digging of Kom Aushim is well documented in the historical record. While sur-
veying the Fayum in January 1890, Flinders Petrie recognized that its ancient town 
had been the most important in the district but also noted that the necropolis to 
the north had been ransacked prior to his arrival.4 A few years later, in the winter 
of 1895/6, David Hogarth and Bernard Grenfell identified the site as the ancient 
Karanis while excavating for the Egypt Exploration Fund (= EEF).5 The publica- 
tions stemming from their work are noteworthy in the history of papyrology for the 
attention they paid to archaeology,6 but so too do both archival materials from the 
dig and the excavators’ personal correspondence shed important light on the site’s 

4 Petrie 1891, 32. See also Petrie’s diary for 18–26 Jan. 1890, now digitized by the Griffith Institute: 
Petrie MSS 1.9  pp.  49–50 (https://archive.griffith.ox.ac.uk/index.php/petrie-1-9). Last accessed 13 
March 2023.
5 For the identification, see David G. Hogarth to Herbert Grueber (Treasurer of the EEF), Jan. 24, 
1896 (EES Inv. III k 135), reproduced in Montserrat 1996, 155. The EEF was renamed the Egypt Explo-
ration Society (= EES) only in 1919.
6 van Minnen 2010, 439–440; Sampson 2022b, § 4.

https://archive.griffith.ox.ac.uk/index.php/petrie-1-9
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condition at the time. The most interesting example of the latter is an early entry 
from Hogarth’s daybook, in which he reports that the kôm was “much worked” 
on the southeast and southwest, that many homes were untouched on the north 
and northwest, and that, “Ali Habibi? worked 6 days. Dimitri also, but not Farag 
(old ghaffir)”.7 This last remark evidently identifies the dealers whose agents had 
already probed the kôm and even Hogarth’s source.8

Although Hogarth and Grenfell had intended to excavate Kom Aushim for “a 
fortnight or three weeks”, after only ten days of work probing its temple, houses, 
and necropolis they transferred the dig to Kom el Atl – the ancient Bacchias.9 In 
a letter sent shortly after this first foray, Hogarth complained that most of Karanis’ 
necropolis had been plundered already in antiquity, and the town itself in more 
recent times.10 At the conclusion of the season, they nonetheless returned to Kom 
Aushim briefly, this time for less than a week’s work whose primary goal was plan-
ning the temple.11 Hogarth had initially remarked that the kôm was big enough to 
last more than a single season12 – a claim subsequently justified by the Michigan 

7 D.G. Hogarth daybook entry for 20 Dec. 1895 (ARC/3/3). Cf. the published remarks of Hogarth/
Grenfell 1895–1896, 15 and P.Fay. pp. 27–28.
8 Ali is presumably Ali Abd el-Haj el-Gabri (on whom see Hagen/Ryholt 2016, 192–195) and Farag his 
rival Farag Ismaïn (on whom see Hagen/Ryholt 2016, 214–215). Dimitri is otherwise unknown, but 
appears again in the daybook entry for 6 Jan. 1896 as Dimitri Stephano.
9 For the original excavation plan, see David G.  Hogarth to Emily Paterson (General Secretary 
of the EEF), 28 Dec. 1895 (EES Inv. III k 133), reproduced in Montserrat 1996, 146. The figure of ten 
days (instead of the expected twelve for the period 24 Dec. 1895–4 Jan. 1896) is explained by days 
off and the time spent hiring workmen: it is stated explicitly in D.G. Hogarth to E. Paterson, 11 Jan. 
1896 (EES inv. III k 134), quoted in Montserrat 1996, 150. Arthur Hunt did not join them until 16 Jan. 
1896, prior to their return to the kôm at season’s end: see Hogarth’s aforementioned 28 Dec. 1895 
letter to Paterson.
10 See David G. Hogarth to Emily Paterson, 11 Jan. 1896 (EES Inv. III k 134), in Montserrat, 1996, 
150: he and Grenfell determined that “the cemeteries of Kûm Washîm were rifled from end to end 
(rifled anciently, that is to say, for there has been very little work done there in modern days) & 
that the town had been largely worked already”. So also P.Fay., p. 21: “both town and cemetery had  
been too hopelessly plundered”.
11 I.e. the South temple, of Pnepheros and Petesouchos. Hogarth’s daybook entries for 24–28 Feb. 
1896 frequently mention the search for the temple’s foundation deposit and measuring up the 
structure (ARC/3/3).
12 “We are high up on the flank of a great mound, in which we are digging. Lord only knows what 
town it is – it’s one of our duties to find out the name – but anyway it is big enough to last us a full 
season and more …” Hogarth to Charles R. Fletcher, Kûm Washîm, Sennures, Fayûm (30 Dec. 1895): 
PER/4/4.
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excavations – but the EEF expedition’s explicit goal was papyri and, on this front, it 
was a disappointment.13

In retrospect, a mere ten days of digging seems incongruous with so dismissive 
an initial assessment, but Hogarth believed that the dig’s exploration of temple, 
necropolis, and houses was sufficiently wide-ranging to establish the site’s poten-
tial.14 The disappointment was evidently prompted by several considerations, 
market gossip not least among them. For, as the introductory section of Fayum 
Towns and their Papyri makes clear, the decisions both initially to excavate for 
papyri at Kom Aushim and, subsequently, to cut the work short were influenced by 
the rumor mill of the Egyptian antiquities market:

During this period, 1887–1894, dealers’ agents were busy at other sites, especially at Kôm 
Ushîm, where the houses in the suburbs are said to be almost as fruitful as those at Dimê.15

No doubt on the basis of such reports, Hogarth and Grenfell had hoped for better 
results from their work. But when the excavations were not immediately bountiful, 
the pair promptly concluded on the basis of the kôm’s condition that they had been 
beaten to the punch and that their energies would be better spent elsewhere.

Contemporary sources corroborate this account of the chatter circulating on 
the Egyptian antiquities market. When Edgar Goodspeed wrote to the Rev. John 
Alexander to inquire into the origins of a lot of papyri purchased with the latter’s 

13 “All know it’s papyrus we want”. Letter to Laura V. Hogarth, Kûm Washîm, Sennures, Fayûm 
(4 Jan. 1896): PER/2/2/2.  See Sampson 2022b, §  2. It is important to note that many sites of early 
excavations yielded (and, in some cases, continue to yield) significant material to later expeditions. 
Grenfell and Hunt briefly returned to Kom Aushim’s necropolis in 1900/1 without much success: see 
Grenfell/Hunt 1900–1901, 4.
14 “We explored the temple thoroughly, and tested sufficiently the houses of the town and the 
cemeteries to the north of the mound”. Hogarth/Grenfell 1895–1896, 15.
15 P.Fay., p.  19; see also Hogarth/Grenfell 1895–1896, 15: “The first mound (viz. Kûm Ushîm), we 
knew, had been sorely plundered, but was very large and reputed a rich source of papyri”. The 
Egyptian antiquities market in the years prior is undoubtedly the anecdotes’ source. For Gren-
fell’s early activities, see Mazza 2022, 232–242. It is not at all unusual for archaeologists also to be 
active in the market in this period: Hagen/Ryholt 2016, 42–52. On the decision to begin work at Kom 
Aushim instead of Kom el Atl, see Hogarth’s aforementioned 28 Dec. 1895 letter to Emily Paterson, 
reproduced in Montserrat 1996, 145. The two sites’ locations and considerations of their Egyptian 
workforce’s durability also factored in the decision. The accidental discovery of antiquities was 
not especially well regulated in this period. Only with article 10 of Law no. 14 (12 June 1912) did it 
become a requirement that whoever found a portable object in Egyptian territory was obligated 
“d’en donner avis et de la remettre, dans un délai de six jours, à l’autorité la plus proche ou aux 
agents du Service des Antiquités qui lui en délivront recu”. The law was published in Annales du 
Service des Antiquités de l’Égypte 12, 1912, 245–251. On Egyptian legislation regarding the antiquities 
trade, its reception, and its impact, see Hagen/Ryholt 2016, 133–146, esp. 138; Davoli 2015, 90–91.
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assistance in 1897 – the bulk of which became P.Kar.Goodsp. – Alexander responded 
with the following report from an anonymous source:

(1) The papyri were found in the Faiyum at a town called Washim. (2) They were found by 
people digging in the heaps or “tells” of dirt and rubbish at the edge of the town. As they dug 
down, they found walls of houses standing in position. In the rooms of these houses or some of 
them they found the papyri – some were in sacks, others in piles in corners, etc. (3) The pieces 
are all from that one town but probably not all from the same old ruin – but from different 
houses.16

Once more, the historical record indicates both that Kom Aushim was an important 
source of papyri at the end of the nineteenth century and that the edges of town 
were especially fruitful.

It is clear that the southern slope of Kom Aushim and other peripheral areas 
had been probed by dealers’ agents and local farmers prior to Hogarth and Gren-
fell’s 1895/6 season. But there can also be no doubt that the two Englishmen’s arrival 
and the commencement of their excavation did nothing to discourage further activ-
ity of this sort. Unpublished material from the dig captures the interest their work 
aroused in the Fayum’s residents. Hogarth’s daybook, for example, describes the dif-
ficulties of selecting and managing the local workforce that occasionally thronged 
in hope of employment, and it repeatedly remarks on various uninvited visitors to 
the site in the wake of their arrival.17 After the excavation had been transferred to 
Kom el Atl, furthermore, Hogarth learned that men were observed digging at Kom 
Aushim in their absence.18 Whether that work was the innocuous harvesting of 
sebakh or the targeted pursuit of antiquities cannot be determined,19 but the latter 
would not surprise. However brief it may have been, the 1895/6 season brightened 
whatever spotlight was already on the kôm, further advertising it as a potentially 
lucrative source of papyri.

The digging certainly continued. By the time the University of Michigan was 
granted a concession and had made the necessary preparations to excavate in the 

16 J.R. Alexander to E.J. Goodspeed, 14 Mar. 1898, reproduced by Hickey/Keenan 2021, 17, from a 
February 1973 transcription by R.W. Allison now in the Goodspeed Collection at Denison University. 
Goodspeed’s publication of a Homeric papyrus from the lot is informed by Alexander’s report: 
Goodspeed 1898, 347. The discovery of the papyri occurred several years previous: additional items 
related to the Goodspeed papyri came to Berlin in 1891. See further, below.
17 On the former, see e.  g. the entries of 23, 24, and 29 Dec. 1895. For the latter, see e.  g. the entry for 
25 Dec. 1895: “Some trouble with Beduin visitors. Have yet to learn, must not interfere with work. 
Sheik of Qasr came up: nice old man but I was too busy to do much for him”. So also that of 28 Dec. 
28: “Intolerable visit from young sheikh of Sennures, desiring cognac & staying 1 1/2 hrs”. (ARC/3/3).
18 Daybook for 20 Jan. 1896 (ARC/3/3).
19 On sebakh – a mixture of Nile silt and nitrogen-rich occupational material from ancient settle-
ments – as well as the history of its extraction, see Bailey 1999, 211–218; Davoli 2015, 94–95.
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final weeks of 1924,20 several decades of informal excavation and the extraction of 
sebakh had dramatically altered the topography of Kom Aushim:

Twenty-nine years had elapsed since Grenfell, Hunt and Hogarth had last dug at Karanis. In 
the interval the mound had been subjected to the unceasing attacks of sebâkh diggers, who 
had operated with light railways, as well as with the usual beasts of burden. The extreme 
eastern and western parts of the town had practically disappeared and the southern face 
of the mound had been plundered extensively. A great gap had been made in the centre of 
the mound stretching from its southern nearly to its northern limits. Around this irregular, 
crater-shaped, hole the remaining portions of the mound formed a sort of rampart, in some 
places thirty or forty feet high.21

The proprietor of the light railway in question was the Daira Agnelli estate, a 
company with a permit to extract ca. 200 cubic meters of sebakh daily. In the central 
part of the kôm where the railway’s heads lay, it had dug to bedrock, destroying all 
traces of the ancient village.

The obliteration of the kôm’s center via the industrial extraction of sebakh 
is a famous, dramatic part of Karanis lore. But at the same time, it seems only to 
have begun in the early 1920s:22 although the impact was unmistakable (and cata-
strophic for archaeology), it was also only a relatively recent development. More 
typical, rather, were the aforementioned expeditions by dealers’ agents as well 
as local farmers, and the extraction of sebakh by donkey. Boak’s complaint about 
“unceasing attacks” cannot be verified, but captures the gist of the kôm’s incremen-
tal disturbance. Earlier reports had noted that its southern face had been plundered 
extensively, that both extreme east and west of the village had “practically disap-
peared”, and that the edges (or ‘suburbs’) of town were fruitful sources of papyri.23 

20 The first season of the Michigan excavation got underway gradually. The concession to dig was 
secured on 4 November, but constructing a field house on site and hiring a staff of Egyptian lab-
orers delayed the formal launch of the excavation season. Informal explorations and survey were 
taking place already in early December, but field reports indicate that the dig did not formally 
begin until “the close of December” or, more specifically, 15 January 1925. For the former, see Boak 
1926, 19; for the latter Boak/Peterson 1931, 1. On the concession to excavate, see Orlando W. Qualley 
to Clara Petra Wollan (5 Nov. 1924).
21 Boak 1926, 20. Cf. Boak/Peterson 1931, 2–3.
22 Davoli 1998, 76; cf. Boak/Peterson 1931, 2; Boak 1926, 20. Strictly speaking, the extraction of 
sebakh without a permit became illegal only in 1909: see Bailey 1999, 212–213; Davoli 2015, 102. In 
practice, challenges persisted until 1931: see Boak 1933, 54–55; Wilfong 2012, 225.
23 The southern slope of the kôm was particularly vulnerable because of its gradual incline and 
proximity to the canal; its north face was comparatively precipitous. But the south, particularly 
the precinct surrounding the old temple of Pnepheros and Petesouchos, was also the oldest part of 
the city and the area most continuously occupied. See Boak 1933, 54, who laments that it had been 
“completely destroyed” by sebakh-diggers.
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An aerial photograph, taken only days after the first season of the Michigan excava-
tion formally began, documents the damage; both the monumental crater and the 
pockmarked southern slope of the kôm are clearly visible from the sky.

2 �Early Purchases of Karanis Papyri
It is against this historical backdrop that we must consider the appearance of 
Karanis papyri on the Egyptian antiquities market. In the final years of the nine-
teenth century, batches of them became available. The earliest documented items 
belong to the group of papyri purchased by James Andrew Sandilands Grant Bey 
ca. 1888, now in Aberdeen, which includes six items from Karanis.24 In Berlin there 
are 137 Karanis papyri originally acquired by Heinrich Brugsch in 1891 as part of 
a massive lot,25 as well as five each from purchases made by Rudolf Mosse and 
Karl Reinhardt, which came to Berlin in 1894 and 1896, respectively.26 Chicago and 
New Wilmington are the homes of Karanis papyri purchased by Edgar Goodspeed 
and the Rev. John Alexander in and around the year 1897.27 In the British Library, 

24 On the origins of Grant’s papyri, see de Ricci 1902, 437; Reinach 1905, 295; and the discussion 
of Ryholt 2019, 524. TM lists seven items from Karanis in Aberdeen, but the case for P.Aberd. 35 is 
weak; see further n. 87, below.
25 Brugsch purchased some 3,000 papyri in the Fayum in 1891, which he sold the same year to 
the Königliche (now Staatliche) Museen zu Berlin. On the purchase, see Rebenich/Franke 2012, 502 
n. 1579. An additional item from Brugsch’s 1891 acquisition is now in Warsaw (= BGU III 862). To this 
list we should also add O.Wilck. 1306, presented to Berlin in 1892 from the Brugsch/Mosse collection.
26 There are also two Karanis papyri in the Heidelberg collection that were acquired by Reinhardt 
in 1897: P.Heid. VII 399 (= G. 108) and P.Heid. IV 319 (= G. 230).
27 On the papyri Goodspeed acquired in 1897, see Hickey/Keenan 2021, 16–18; not only did Alexan-
der facilitate that purchase, but he also possessed his own papyri from Karanis, several of which 
relate to Goodspeed’s. These he must have acquired at some point before 1902, when Goodspeed 
published them in P.Cair.Goodsp.

Figure 1: 19 January 1925. Aerial Views. 47 sqdn. 
R.A.F. Fayoum. Survey A3. 6000 feet.  
(Kelsey Museum of Archaeology, University of 
Michigan, neg. no. 4.1992)
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Karanis papyri are scattered across several lots acquired between 1891 and 1903. 
Especially important for my purposes is its 2 February 1891 purchase from the Rev. 
Greville John Chester,28 but there are other acquisitions from L. Paul Philip,29 the 
Rev. Chauncey Murch,30 and Bernard Grenfell.31 Via Karl Wessely, Grenfell also sold 
a trio of Homeric papyri from Karanis to the Vienna Papyrussamlung,32 and among 
those he sold to the Bodleian Library is a single papyrus from Karanis.33 As for the 
Karanis papyri that were excavated during the 1895/6 season, the EEF either repat-
riated or distributed them in the early 1900s, following the publication of P.Fay.: 
they are now in Alexandria, Cairo, Cambridge, the British Library, and Toronto’s 
Royal Ontario Museum.34 In sum, I count approximately 330 papyri whose prove-
nance has reasonably been identified as Karanis and whose acquisition occurred 
in the years 1888–1903.35

28 Papyri 142–143, 146, 149, 151, 154, 155, 162a, 163, 166a, 172–173, and 175e, purchased 2 Feb. 1891. In 
addition to this lot (comprising Papyri 139–176) Chester is the source of several batches of ostraca 
and papyri acquired in 1878, 1881, 1887, 1891, 1892, and 1903. To search the BL records, see http://
www.bl.uk/manuscripts/advancedsearch.aspx. Last accessed 13 March 2023.
29 Papyri 178a–b, 182b, 189, 198, 205, and 206c, purchased 26 Mar. 1891. Philip is the source of only 
a single lot (= BL Papyri 177–208).
30 Papyri 255 and 438 as well as 1266e, 1267d, and 1267e, purchased 15 May 1893 and 20 Nov. 1903, 
respectively. Murch is the source of almost nine hundred papyri the British Library purchased 
between 1893 and 1906: nos. 229–255, 401–447, 884–1178, 1201–1520, and 1545–1753. For the sake of 
comparison, 3,439 items in the British Museum catalogue name Murch in their provenance. A mere 
five papyri from Karanis does not make for a significant proportion.
31 Papyrus 469b, purchased June 1894. Grenfell was the source of several batches of papyri: in 1894 
(nos. 465–481), 1895 (nos. 606–650), 1896 (nos. 683–731), 1897 (nos. 732, 736–738), and 1920 (nos. 2103–
2238). A search is possible via http://www.bl.uk/manuscripts/advancedsearch.aspx. Last accessed 
13 March 2023.
32 P.Vindob. G 19768, 19791, and 19794 are Homeric papyri purchased from Grenfell in July 1896. 
Curiously, they are said to originate in excavations at Karanis, but when those excavations occurred 
is unclear: I doubt that Grenfell sold items from his recently concluded 1895/96 EEF dig. See MPER 
n.s. I 3 (= II–IIIb), MPER n.s. III 1, and Gerstinger 1926, 90 no.  11. I have since determined that  
P.Vindob. G 19768 belongs to the same roll of Iliad 8 as P.Grenf. I 2 + P.Flor. II 109: see further Sampson 
2022b, § 13 n. 40.
33 = P.Grenf. II 52. The Bodleian Library’s summary catalog names Grenfell as the origin or inter-
mediary for scores of items: 31708–31721 (1894), 31804 & 31806–31813 (1895), 31900–31981 (1895), 
32273–322344 (1896), 32448–32484 (1897), and 32850–32852 (1899). See Madan/Chester 1924, xvii–xxv.
34 A complete list of the current locations for papyri published in P.Fay. is available online: https://
oxyrhynchus.web.ox.ac.uk/location-list. Last accessed 14 Nov. 2023.
35 The ca. 330 figure includes twelve papyri from Hogarth and Grenfell’s 1895/6 EEF excavations 
but does not include purchases made by the Deutsches Papyruskartell. The figure is necessarily 
inexact, inasmuch as it includes occasional items that may have been written but not found in 
Karanis (or vice-versa), e.  g. P.Customs 409, PSI III 195, SB XII 11125; or excludes items that TM has 

http://www.bl.uk/manuscripts/advancedsearch.aspx
http://www.bl.uk/manuscripts/advancedsearch.aspx
http://www.bl.uk/manuscripts/advancedsearch.aspx
https://oxyrhynchus.web.ox.ac.uk/location-list
https://oxyrhynchus.web.ox.ac.uk/location-list
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Despite their varied destinations and discrete acquisition histories, early discov-
eries from Karanis occasionally overlap in interesting ways. Some were promptly 
recognized as belonging together, while others have been grouped together in the 
course of their scholarly analysis.36 A good example of the former is the archive of 
approximately 150 receipts for seed corn issued by the Karanis sitologoi,37 which is 
divided principally between the Goodspeed/Alexander collections and Berlin.38 The 
latter group is represented by the papers of Mikkalos son of Petheus (alias Ptole-
maios) and of Gaius Iulius Apollinarius, respectively. Purchased papyri pertaining 
to Mikkalos and his family are now in London, Berlin, and Oxford,39 while those 
of Apollinarius are now in Berlin, Warsaw, and London.40 Common to these clus-
ters of papyri is the aforementioned narrow window of acquisition. Only a few 
items could have been purchased after the turn of the century,41 which is to say that 
most – if not all – were acquired within a decade of one another.

Although their institutional and geographical distribution indicates that the 
papyri in these clusters were not always purchased together, the compact chronol-
ogy of their acquisition is nonetheless suggestive: were some perhaps unearthed 
together? At first glance, this question may appear fundamentally insoluble; the 
reality of purchases made on the antiquities market is that dealers’ inventories as 
well as a given lot’s composition are arbitrary – even potentially random. Further-
more, dealers were not necessarily well informed about provenance.42 A single pur-
chase, in other words, could consist of all sorts of material from different sources 

located in Karanis on dubious grounds. The reality of purchased papyri is that it is impossible to 
distinguish between kinds of provenance precisely and confidently on every occasion.
36 The discussion that follows is an attempt to fill the gap left by Vandorpe/Clarysse/Verreth 2015, 
20–30, whose assemblage of Karanis archives only covers those acquired during the Michigan exca-
vations or via the Anglo-American cartel in the 1920s.
37 = TM Arch 271.
38 The former was purchased in 1897, the latter via Brugsch in 1891. On the acquisition of Alexan-
der’s papyri and their relationship to Goodspeed’s, see n. 27 (supra).
39 = TM Arch 602.
40 = TM Arch 566; see Mitthof 2000, 397–399. The piece in Warsaw originated in the same 1891 
purchase by Brugsch as the items in Berlin.
41 I.e. P.Got. 2; BGU XI 2017; BGU XIII 2344. See nn. 50 and 59 (infra). For these exceptional items, 
the imprecision or silence of the acquisition records is to blame for the uncertainty: we simply 
don’t know.
42 On 2 March 1911, for example, William Schubart purchased a lot of seventeen papyri from 
the dealers Michel Casira and Farag Tadrus, sixteen of which involve the veteran (Lucius) Iulius 
Serenus and which have been located in Karanis (= TM Arch 117). But archival materials in the 
Hamburg collection record an alleged provenance for the lot in Batn Harit (i.  e. the ancient Thea-
delpheia), a provenance which is almost certainly incorrect and which presumably originated with 
the dealers. See Essler 2021, 204–205; Sampson 2022a, § 1.
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and origins; papyri uncovered on a single occasion, conversely, need not have come 
to market together. Brugsch’s massive 1891 purchase, with its approximately 3,000 
items, is illustrative: only 137 of them (i.  e. < 5 %) have been located in Karanis on 
internal grounds. But upon closer examination of even a lot such as this, patterns 
nonetheless begin to emerge. Of those 137 texts, papyrological analysis has distin-
guished half a dozen different assemblages. In addition to the aforementioned 
pieces pertaining to Gaius Iulius Apollinarius and the sitologoi archive, the Karanis 
papyri in the Brugsch lot include nine texts pertaining to Aurelius Longinus alias 
Zosimos,43 three to Sabinus son of Zosimus,44 two to Ninnaros alias Ptolemaios,45 
and four to Tapetheus daughter of Ptolemaios.46

It would be rash to assert that all of these texts were unearthed in a single 
place on a single occasion, but the hypothesis that individual clusters of related 
texts came out of the ground together is attractive and, in a few cases, defensi-
ble. No other papyri pertaining to Tapetheus daughter of Ptolemaios, for example, 
are known apart from those purchased by Brugsch: the acquisition of four items 
within a single lot is consistent with a common archaeological origin. The two 
papyri pertaining to Ninnaros alias Ptolemaios are suggestive in other respects. 
Two is of course too small a number to allay the objection of a serendipitous coinci-
dence,47 but the acquisition history of a further item provides a modicum of ballast: 
P.Lond. II 182b is an extract from a census roll involving Ninnaros purchased from 
L. Paul Philip in 1891 – i.  e. the very same year as the Brugsch lot and its Ninnaros 
papyri. The number of items relating to Ninnaros alias Ptolemaios remains worry-
ingly small, but their near-contemporaneous acquisition by different collections 
invites the hypothesis that, although they evidently came to market separately, they 
might have shared an archaeological context or were unearthed in proximity to 
one another.48

43 = TM Arch 667.
44 = TM Arch 663.
45 = TM Arch 666.
46 = TM Arch 664. I treat BGU III.970 + II.525 as a double document (following the introduction to 
P.Oxy. XVII.2131, p. 235) and count them as single item.
47 The same objection holds in the case of the three papyri pertaining to Sabinus son of Zosimos.
48 Although papyrological terminology distinguishes between ‘archive’ and ‘dossier’, defining the 
former as an assemblage deliberately formed in antiquity and the latter as a group of related mate-
rials reconstituted via scholarly analysis, it remains somewhat at odds with archaeological science, 
for which ‘archive’ implies a deliberate depositional context. With the exception of the Karanis 
sitologoi receipts and the problematic case of Sokrates son of Sarapion, this article refrains from 
using the terminology of ‘archives’, for several related reasons: purchased papyri of the sort I am 
discussing typically lack depositional and archaeological context; the depositional circumstances 
even for excavated items is often arbitrary, if not uncertain (as we will observe); it would be coun-
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By virtue of its magnitude, the group of receipts for seed corn issued by the 
Karanis sitologoi makes the strongest case for purchased papyri with a common 
archaeological origin. Approximately 100 of them were acquired by Goodspeed (1897) 
and Alexander (ante 1902), but forty-three others were part of the 1891 Brugsch lot.49 
In the early days individual pieces also came to Gothenburg50 as well as museums in 
Alexandria51 and Aberdeen.52 Goodspeed was made aware of a connection between 
his papyri and those in Berlin early on,53 and in republishing the Berlin papyri 
alongside his own he noted that the overwhelming majority (= 95 %) date to the 
autumn of the twenty-second year of Antoninus Pius’ reign.54 Most significantly, he 
also recorded how many came into his hands rolled or even stitched together: their 
relatively ‘intact’ state of conservation is consistent with the aforementioned report 
regarding their origins and comes as close as we can for purchased papyri to estab-
lishing a common archaeological provenience.55 Internal evidence and the physical 
condition of the papyri combine to indicate that they were deliberately archived, 
i.  e. collected and deposited in antiquity, though exactly where remains unknown.56

Moving beyond the 137 Karanis papyri in the Brugsch lot, texts from other early 
purchases are also occasionally linked in ways that indicate a common archaeolog-
ical origin. Take the case of a lot of thirty-seven papyri, now in the British Library, 
that was purchased from the Rev. Greville John Chester in 1891.57 The papyri’s prov-

terproductive for an interdisciplinary study such as mine to employ terminology that is at odds 
with or is unintelligible to one of its constituent methodologies. On the terminology of ‘archives’ 
see Vandorpe/Clarysse/Verreth 2015, 16–17; Fournet 2018; Vandorpe 2009; van Beek 2007; Jördens 
2001; Martin 1994; Pestman 1995, 91–92; Pestman 1994, 51. I intend to return to this difficult topic 
elsewhere.
49 = TM Arch 271.
50 = P.Got. 2, acquired before 1925. On the Gothenburg collection’s origins, see Amundsen 1932, 327.
51 = P.Alex.Giss. 2, previously described by Świderek/Vandoni 1964, 30 (= inv. 590). The origins of 
this papyrus are unknown, but the 1900 publication of the museum catalogue, which describes inv. 
590 incongruently as “Contrat pour illettré”, provides a terminus ante quem. See Botti 1900, 338, 
no. 590; and, on the museum’s origins, Świderek/Vandoni 1964, 5–7 (= Świderek 1962, 51–53). Botti’s 
incongruous description indicates a cataloguing mistake of some sort, and I wonder whether the 
papyrus in question belongs rather to the group 591–602, which he catalogued as “Papyrus dont 
le déchiffrement n’est pas définitif”. In his introduction to P.Alex.Giss. 2, Schwartz admits that the 
script was challenging: “La lecture de çe document très cursif… n’a été possible que grâce aux reçus 
sembables publiés ou repris par E. J. Goodspeed” (sc. P.Kar.Goodsp.).
52 = P.Aberd. 49, purchased by Grant ca. 1888.
53 Hickey/Keenan 2021, 19 n. 61.
54 See P.Kar.Goodsp., p. 2.
55 See P.Kar.Goodsp., p. 3, and n. 16 (supra).
56 So also Hickey/Keenan 2021, 19 n.  61: “The Berlin and Goodspeed shares of these granary 
receipts… must therefore have come from the same lot, divided after discovery and before sale”.
57 See n. 28 (supra).
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enance is for the most part Arsinoite, but fourteen of them can be placed specifi-
cally in Karanis, and fully half of those (i.  e. seven) pertain to one Mikkalos son of 
Petheus (alias Ptolemaios) (Table 1).

I would not go so far as to claim that all fourteen of the Karanis papyri in this 
lot came out of the ground together, but as regards the Mikkalos items, at least, 
the situation resembles that of the texts pertaining to Tapetheus daughter of Ptole-
maios acquired by Brugsch: the coherence of a handful of texts within a single lot 
belies the likelihood of an accident. But the Mikkalos papyri in the Chester lot also 
resemble those pertaining to Ninnaros alias Ptolemaios for their external corrob-
oration: a trio of pieces in Berlin and an additional one in Oxford are also con-
nected to this same Mikkalos.58 Although two of those four items’ origins are not 
documented,59 the others were purchased in 1896 and ca. 1897–1899, respectively. 
As far as we can tell, in other words, the chronology of acquisition remains quite 
compact, reinforcing the likelihood of a common origin for the entire group. Like 
Goodspeed’s sitologoi receipts or the later case of Aion son of Sarapion’s papers,60 

58 I.e. BGU XX 2868; BGU XIII 2344; BGU XI 2017; TM 971879.
59 The Berlin catalogue does not illuminate the origins of BGU XI 2017 or BGU XIII 2344.
60 = TM Arch 250.

Table 1: Karanis Papyri in the 1891 Chester Lot. (Items pertaining to Mikkalos son of Petheus are in 
bold).

Inventory TM Date (CE)

BL Papyrus 141 TM 11626 88
BL Papyrus 142 TM 11627 95
BL Papyrus 143 TM 11628 97
BL Papyrus 146 TM 11629 74
BL Papyrus 149 TM 25608 ca.130
BL Papyrus 151 TM 28009 87–88
BL Papyrus 154 TM 11630 68
BL Papyrus 155 ro TM 59973 First half II
BL Papyrus 155 vo TM 59438 Late II – Third quarter III
BL Papyrus 162a TM 25611 98
BL Papyrus 163 TM 11632 88
BL Papyrus 166a TM 11636 219
BL Papyrus 172 TM 19956 105
BL Papyrus 173 TM 11640 101
BL Papyrus 175e TM 28016 II
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members of which ended up in a handful of collections, these papyri could easily 
have been divided after discovery and before they were brought to market.

3 �Collating the Evidence from Field and Museum 
Archaeology

Recent years have witnessed an outburst of research into the Mikkalos papyri, 
including both editions of new texts and reassessment of the whole. Especially 
notable for my purposes are the two copies of a will drawn up for Mikkalos’ father 
Petheus, neither of which is the original.61 Unlike the aforementioned texts in Berlin, 
Oxford, and London which were acquired on the Egyptian antiquities market in the 
last decade of the nineteenth century, these wills were excavated decades later by 
the University of Michigan, as part of a large cache of papyrological material. The 
dig’s record of objects assigned this cache the field number 26-B17F-A, an annota-
tion which indicates both the season of excavation (1926/7) as well as the findspot: 
Room F of House 17, in the ‘B’ level.62 For the purposes of Museum archaeology, the 
addition of papyri acquired via a controlled archaeological excavation to a larger 
group acquired by market purchase makes the Mikkalos papyri exceptional: in 
Karanis, as elsewhere, the manner of acquisition for groups of papyri tends to be 
exclusive – one or the other.63

The complicated, compound acquisition histories of the Mikkalos papyri open 
a new vector for research, namely, the possibility that archaeological data can be 
brought to bear on market acquisitions. House B17, the excavation records indicate, 

61 = P.Cair.Mich. III 8. Several fragments of these papyri were returned to Cairo in 1952/3, but oth-
ers remain in Ann Arbor. For other recent work on Mikkalos papyri, see Claytor/El-Maghrabi 2018; 
Borrelli 2019; Claytor 2020; Claytor 2022.
62 A search of the Michigan’s online APIS catalogue yields 242 hits for the acquisition 26-B17F-A, 
but there are only 178 unique processing numbers for those items, of which a further thirty-six 
distinguish the observe sides or some other division of the same fragment. On current count, there-
fore, 142 individual fragments bear the field number 26-B17F-A. As van Minnen 1994, 237 notes, that 
number may become smaller as fragments are joined.
63 Possible (but unlikely) exceptions are BGU XI 2023 (acquisition unknown) and BGU II 472 col. i 
(acquired via Brugsch in 1891) as well as BGU III 985 (acquired via Reinhardt in 1896), whose inclu-
sion in the papers of Gemellus Horion (= TM Arch 90) and Satabous son of Pnepheros (= TM Arch 
407), respectively, has been proposed. More promising is the case of the famous Karanis tax rolls (= 
TM Arch 63), which were acquired on the market but for a single excavated fragment (24-138A-A). 
We eagerly await the results of the investigation promised by Bagnall 2020, 157 – similar to this 
article’s – of assemblages of Karanis papyri that were acquired by both purchase and excavation.



454   C. Michael Sampson

was situated on the northwest corner of the intersection of Streets BS1 and BS2, in 
the western neighborhood of Karanis that the Michigan team dubbed ‘Area G’.64 

Although the testimony of this single findspot is insufficient to forge a mean-
ingful connection, the Museum archaeology of London’s 1891 Chester lot reveals 
another significant intersection. Among that group of thirty-seven texts (which 
included fourteen papyri from Karanis, seven of which form the core of the Mikka-
los papers) is British Library Papyrus 155, whose two sides preserve a fragmentary 
surgical treatise on methods for reducing dislocations of the jaw and choliambic 
verses attributed to Cercidas, respectively.65 Although there is no internal indica-
tion of provenance, we know that this papyrus comes from Karanis because the 
Michigan excavation uncovered an additional fragment of it, published in the 

64 See Figure 2. On Area G, see Boak/Peterson 1931, 7–8, and the further discussion below.
65 See Table 1. The papyrus was described in P.Lond. II, p. xiv, and its texts are also known as 
P.Lond.Lit. 166 and P.Lond.Lit. 58, respectively.

Table 2: Texts Pertaining to Mikkalos son of Petheus (alias Ptolemaios)

Acquisition Inventory Publication Date

Rev. Greville John Chester (1891)
BL Papyrus 141 P.Lond. 2.141 88
BL Papyrus 142 P.Lond. 2.142 95
BL Papyrus 143 P.Lond. 2.143 97
BL Papyrus 146 BASP 57 (2020) p. 21 74
BL Papyrus 151 P.Lond. 2.151 87–88
BL Papyrus 162a BASP 57 (2020) p. 27 98
BL Papyrus 172 P.Lond. 2.172 105

Karl Reinhardt (1896)
P.Berol. inv. 9737 BGU 20.2868 103

(?) P.Berol. inv. 21470 BGU 13.2344 77–111
(?) P.Berol. inv. 21574 BGU 11.2017 post 88

Bernard P. Grenfell / Arthur S. Hunt (1897–1899)
EES 89A/151(c) Pylon 1 (2022) 62

Excavation (1926) 26-B17F-A
P.Mich. inv. 4727g vo + 4717 vo P.Cair.Mich. 3.8(1) 82–96
P.Mich. inv. 4719 + 4727e + 4727g1 P.Cair.Mich. 3.8(2) 82–96



Area G and the Digging of Kom Aushim   455

second volume of Cairo papyri from the Michigan excavations.66 I have no doubt 
that the purchased and excavated fragments belong to the same roll: the two texts’ 
hands are identical.67

Inasmuch as the Mikkalos papyri and the surgical treatise were both acquired 
by a combination of excavation and a single purchase, in concert they provide com-
pelling testimony regarding provenience. The excavated fragment of the surgical 
treatise was assigned the field number 26-B12L-A in Michigan’s record of objects, 
which indicates both the season of its discovery (1926/7) as well as its findspot, 
namely, Room L of House 12, in the ‘B’ level  – that structure’s courtyard. When 
one consults the plan of Area G, the overlap with the excavated wills for Mikka-
los’ father is clear: the papyri were excavated during the same season, and their 
findspots are closely related. Houses B12 and B17 are located on corners diagonally 
opposite to one another, at the intersection of streets BS1 and BS2 in Area G (see 
Figure 2). Archaeological data regarding the excavated fragments, in other words, 
is consistent with the hypothesis of the purchased lot’s cohesion. Eight of the four-
teen Karanis papyri in London’s 1891 Chester lot now have ties to two separate 
structures, located within meters of one another in Area G.

The fact that these papyri belong to otherwise unrelated groups of texts cinches 
the connection hypothesized by Museum archaeology, which wondered whether 
at least some of the fourteen Karanis papyri in the Chester lot were unearthed 
together. Buttressed by the excavation data, I can only conclude that we should 
locate these London papyri in the archaeological record: the odds of fragments 
from the same two unrelated sets of texts turning up in both a single purchase as 
well as during the controlled excavation of a neighborhood are minuscule, unless 
the purchased items also originated in that neighborhood.68

There are two important corollaries to this conclusion. The first is that the 
archaeological record in Area G was being disturbed already by 1891, when the 
Chester lot was acquired. Above and beyond more general reports about the kôm’s 
suburbs and southern slope, then, we can pinpoint at least one instance of his-
torical digging in Karanis with some precision. The other corollary involves the 
coherence of the papers pertaining to Mikkalos son of Petheus. Since the London 
portion of this group of texts can now be located in the archaeological record, the 
likelihood that we are dealing with an otherwise unrelated and arbitrary group of 

66 P.Cair.Mich. II 10–11. In discussing the fragments’ reunion (p. 34), David Leith remarks as fol-
lows: “This papyrus furnishes an additional piece of the roll represented by P.Lond. II 155 = Brit. 
Libr. inv. 155, which we can now be sure was found somewhere in Karanis”.
67 Although the verso of the excavated piece preserves Discourses by Epictetus instead of choliam-
bic verse, Leith argues for a thematically arranged moralizing anthology.
68 Claytor 2022, § 11 concurs with my findings.
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texts reconstituted only via scholarly analysis is diminished. Instead, they more 
probably constitute a single assemblage of materials, gathered at some point in 
antiquity before eventually being deposited in Area G.69 That assemblage plausibly 
includes the texts now in Berlin and Oxford as well, whose acquisition history – 
where documented – is compatible with the ones in London. The contingency of 
purchases made on the antiquities market prevents us from determining whether 
the purchased papyri were uncovered together on a single occasion or gradually, 
over time, but there is good reason to posit proximal findspots in Area G, prior to 
the papyri’s division and appearance on the antiquities market.

69 Thus, the Mikkalos papyri would appear to fit the definition of an archive, though the uncer-
tainty regarding the circumstances of their deposit remains problematic: see n.  48 (supra) and 
further, below.

Figure 2: Area G Map
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4 �Mikkalos in Light of the Papyrology and 
Archaeology of Area G

Advancing the archaeological contextualization of the Mikkalos papyri beyond 
these important conclusions is challenging. For one thing, the excavation data is 
imperfect. From the start the Michigan dig was plagued by mistaken inferences 
about stratigraphy,70 but when its third season of excavation was about to get 
underway in the autumn of 1926, the surveys and maps from the previous seasons 
remained incomplete.71 Worse, the triangulation chart that was prepared during 
this season was subsequently found to be faulty and an unreliable basis for further 
surveying.72 Only a preliminary plan of Area G (= Figure 2) was ever completed, 
and drawings were drafted for only a few “of the more important houses”,73 which 
included neither House B12 nor B17.74 It was not until the subsequent 1927 season 
that the surveying and mapping of the site was set on solid foundations, which pro-
duced the more familiar (and professional) plans of Karanis that have since been 
frequently (re)published.75

The shortcomings and limitations of the documentation are partially explained 
by the difficult conditions in the field,76 but also by the enormity of the task – logis-
tical, financial, methodological, managerial, and bureaucratic – that coordinating 
and overseeing the kôm’s excavation posed to a team of seven principals in the 
autumn of 1926.77 By the dawn of that third season of work, moreover, the dig was 
in crisis. The previous season had been marked by financial irregularities and dys-

70 Landvatter 2014, 39–43; Landvatter 2016, 1497–1500.
71 So Boak/Peterson 1931, 7. See also Orlando W.  Qualley to Clara Petra Wollan, (15 Feb. 1925): 
“Yeivin had to start his plan all over again because some of the measurements were wrong”.
72 See Yeivin 1928, I.
73 Boak/Peterson 1931, 7–8.
74 The majority of Boak/Peterson’s discussion of Area G architecture concerns houses B1 and B2: 
B12 and B17 are only mentioned in passing, with references to a vaulted roof and protected corners 
in the former (1931, 24, 26) and to the brick floors of the latter’s room E (1931, 27).
75 As in e.  g. Husselman 1979.
76 See, for example, Orlando W. Qualley to Clara Petra Wollan (11 Feb. 1925): “… we had about the 
worst sandstorm of the year today. Starkey and I gave up recording on the Kom at lunch time and 
did some filing and cleaning at the house this afternoon. We didn’t have room to take in any more 
stuff until some was cleared away so it all fitted in well. From now on we are going to try to file and 
check each night the stuff we record in the field. Otherwise we shall not be able to keep up with the 
game. I can see that we shall be busier and busier as the season progresses”.
77 For the principals in each of the first three seasons, see Boak/Peterson 1931, 1, 6. It is regrettable 
but typical of the era that the labor of the dig’s Egyptian workforce passes without mention.
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function in both management and administration.78 Worse, its dumps of sebakh 
had proven inadequate to supply the Daira Agnelli through the summer, as a con-
sequence of which the company not only had resumed digging the kôm of its own 
accord but was also threatening to resort to artificial fertilizer in the future, which 
would have only compounded the crisis.79

To right the ship, Michigan replaced James Starkey as field director with Enoch 
Peterson, who would oversee excavations until their conclusion, and the team 
promptly fixated on Area G for reasons both practical and archaeological. Providing 
the Daira Agnelli with sufficient stores of sebakh via excavated fill was a priority, 
but so too did the team believe that this neighborhood would yield well-preserved 
houses from Karanis’ latest period of occupation.80 The latter expectation would be 
disappointed, but the area indeed proved bountiful in sebakh, with some structures 
buried by up to three or four meters of debris.81 The quantity of fill proved as much 
a curse as a blessing; in the course of excavation, the dig’s workforce removed an 
average of 200 tonnes per day,82 constructing a series of massive dumps alongside 
the excavated structures to supply the Daira Agnelli’s light railway (Figure 3). But 
so great was the work that not every structure could be cleared completely to its 
foundations, which is another reason why only rudimentary plans for the area and 
its buildings were completed.83

Given the limitations of the excavation data and the challenges the Michi-
gan team faced in the 1926/7 season, the analysis of Area G depends overwhelm-
ingly upon the Kelsey Museum’s invaluable record of excavated objects. Here one 
encounters the second major obstacle to comprehending and contextualizing the 
Mikkalos papyri, namely, the circumstances of their deposit. House B17 yielded 
vast amounts of papyrus in addition to the fragmentary wills for Mikkalos’ father 
Petheus: no fewer than 142 individual fragmentary papyri share the field number 

78 See Pedley 2012, 363–369, 381.
79 See Meador-Woodruff 2005, 5. Boak/Peterson 1931, 3 note that, by arrangement with the Daira 
Agnelli, excavation in the initial seasons focused on sebakh-rich areas in close proximity to the 
company’s railway “in order that the expedition’s dumps should feed the railroad and the sebakhîn 
be given no excuse to dig for themselves in unexcavated ground”. For the Michigan team, the con-
venience of having excavated fill hauled away at the company’s expense came at the cost of accu-
mulating sufficiently large stores to supply it in the months between seasons, which in practical 
terms restricted the areas available for excavation and gave the early seasons the flavor of rescue 
archaeology.
80 Boak/Peterson 1931, 7.
81 Boak/Peterson 1931, 7–8.
82 Boak/Peterson 1931, 7. At its peak, the figure was nearly double that (i.  e. 375–400 tonnes per 
day): see Meador-Woodruff 2005, 5.
83 Boak/Peterson 1931, 7.
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26-B17F-A.84 This cache of material, which dates overwhelmingly to the second and 
third centuries, has been the subject of rich scholarly discussion. Building upon 
prosopographical analyses first conducted by Silvia Strassi, Peter van Minnen 
famously identified House B17 as the home of the local tax-collector Sokrates son 
of Sarapion, a conclusion he premised on the idea that the structure’s papyrolog-
ical finds were a primary deposit consisting of Sokrates’ personal archive.85 Even 
though van Minnen has revised aspects of this thesis in several significant ways,86 
his portrait of Sokrates is so vivid that the idea he resided in the neighborhood 
persists. Its influence can be discerned in the not uncommon assumption that the 
papyri from this structure and its environs were once his.87

84 On those finds, see n. 62 (supra). APIS and the excavation’s record of objects occasionally disa-
gree; in such instances, the field number listed in the record of objects is authoritative.
85 van Minnen 1994, 240, taking up the research of Strassi Zaccaria 1991, 245–262. See also Strassi 
2001, 1215–1228.
86 He now argues that the papyri were only dumped in B17, while asserting that Sokrates lived in 
House B2: see van Minnen 2010, 463.
87 So, for example, one reads that the papyri “probably once belonged to one single archive” and 
that “Sokrates also kept some literary texts”: Geens 2013; in Vandorpe/Clarysse/Verreth 2015, 373, 
375; see also Harker 2008, 113–115. Undoing such sticky conclusions can be painstaking work: build-
ing upon Strassi-Zaccaria 1991, 255–257, the Sarapion in both P.Aberd. 35 and BGU III.819 as well as 
the Sokrates in both BGU I 97 and BGU II 577 have been thought to be sons of Sokrates. But none 

Figure 3: Dump heaps, season 1926–27, from north to south, taken in the middle of February, 1927. 
Credit: J. Anthony Chubb (Kelsey Museum of Archaeology, University of Michigan, neg. no. 5.2370).
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Since the excavated wills share the field number 26-B17F-A with the core of 
Sokrates’ papers, he is the elephant in the room during the contextualization of the 
Mikkalos papyri. What does one have to do with the other? Despite the influence of 
van Minnen’s seminal analysis, which marked a watershed moment in papyrology’s 
interdisciplinary turn, the archaeology is far from clear-cut and it is dangerous to 
subordinate everything to Sokrates. The most significant criticism of his argument 
is grounded in archaeological theory, which objects on that grounds that it confuses 
the papyri’s archaeological context (i.  e. the circumstances of their excavation) with 
their systemic context (i.  e. their use in antiquity).88 Put simply, the fact that exca-
vation unearthed papyri in House B17 (for example) does not itself indicate that 
the papyri were used or read there in antiquity, or that Sokrates once lived there or 
nearby. It only indicates that they eventually came to be deposited there.

The composition of the deposit similarly warns against jumping to conclusions. 
Very little in the latest volume of Cairo papyri from the Michigan excavations, for 
example, has any obvious relationship to Sokrates or his family, which is consistent 
with the papyri from House B17, more generally. It yielded several papyri like the 
Mikkalos wills that do not obviously pertain to Sokrates, his business, or the indi-
viduals thought to comprise his family.89 The same diversity is evident in the finds 
from Street BS1, too, on which the house was situated.90 Instead of proceeding 
inclusively on the assumption that archaeology has uncovered a unified archive 
of which Sokrates is the protagonist, then, the opposite approach is called for: each 
papyrus’ candidacy for inclusion among his papers should be evaluated on a case-

of those texts include a patronym (and the former pair of texts are from Herakleia). So too are the 
Sokrates and Sarapion of BGU I 326 unlikely candidates, as they are probably the sons of Gaius 
Longinus Castor: see Keenan 1994, 104–105. With Hagedorn 2008, 150, I also consider it unlikely 
that the Sokrates of P.Mich. VI 383.33 is the same tax collector on whom the archive centers, despite 
its findspot in Area G (26-B2AK-A). Sokrates, Sarapion, and Kastor were popular names in Karanis. 
TM lists 426 attestations of 172 individuals named Sarapion (TM Nam 5663), 177 attestations of 58 
individuals named Sokrates (TM Nam 5914), and 397 attestations of 118 individuals named Kastor 
(TM Nam 3574). All searches were restricted to Karanis, with a second-century date.
88 E.g. Nevett 2011, 18–19; Landvatter 2016; Perrone 2022, 52. Even in revised form, van Minnen’s 
thesis is subject to criticism on this front: his rationale for positing that Sokrates lived in House B2 
is that a fragment of Callimachus was found there (P.Mich. inv. 4763c, 26-B2B-A), a finding which is 
consistent with Sokrates’ use of the rare Callimachean word [ἀ]νδίκτο(υ) at P.Mich. IV 223.2665. See 
van Minnen 2010, 463; cf. van Minnen 1994, 245–246.
89 E.g. SB VI 9430; SB XII 11105; P.Mich. VI 381; P.Mich. VI 391; P.Mich. VII 449 (all with the field num-
ber 26-B17F-A). See also the items listed in n. 97, with the field number 26-B17E-A.
90 SB XII 11104; SB XII 11124; SB XIV 12082; P.Mich. VI 366; P.Mich. VI.380; P.Mich. VIII 495; P.Mich. 
IX 522 (all with the field number 26-BS1-PI). On the Kastor of P.Mich. VI 366, see n. 97 (below); the 
Tasoucharion of P.Mich. VIII 495 is identified by the matronym Tapeesis and is not called daughter 
of Sokrates.
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by-case basis. Disabused of the assumption that the papyri ought to relate to one 
another, one observes instead a mixed batch of material from multiple sources 
dating to the second and third centuries. In this respect, Cornelia Römer is correct 
to note that we have a part of the archive, but not the archive itself.91 Although 
they share a field number, in other words, the excavated Mikkalos papyri do not 
pertain to Sokrates. Nor do they need to.

Another reason to decenter Sokrates from the discussion is the evident confu-
sion in the archaeological record, characterized by the dispersal of papyri across 
Area G. Sokrates’ papers, for example, were not restricted to House B17, but were 
also unearthed in several other contexts, as well.92 Such ‘wandering’ is a feature of 
the neighborhood, more generally.93 The literary papyri resemble those of Sokrates 
in this respect: there are fragments of a grammatical treatise which were excavated 
in separate contexts,94 and three separate locations yielded the half-dozen frag-
ments of Menander’s Epitrepontes that have been identified to date.95 P.Cair.Mich. 
II 9 + III 6 offers a particularly extreme example: these fragments of Demosthenes’ 
On the Crown were excavated in entirely separate regions of the kôm.96 There are, 
of course, several potential causes for the scattering of papyri in Area G’s archaeo-
logical record, but my analysis of the Mikkalos papyri and the 1891 Chester lot pro-
vides at least a partial explanation. Because this neighborhood was already being 
disturbed by 1891 (to say nothing of any subsequent incursions), it should come as 
no surprise that potentially discrete deposits of papyri in Area G were stirred up 
and confused in the decades prior to their excavation by the Michigan team.

It must not pass unmentioned that the excavation data occasionally bear 
witness to disturbance of this kind. In a room in House B17 adjacent to the one 
in which the large cache was uncovered, the dig excavated another dozen or so 
papyri. These were assigned the field number 26-B17E-A in the record of objects, to 
which was added the annotation “papyrus very high in debris above the room”.97 

91 P.Cair.Mich. III, p. x.
92 SB VI.9242a (26-B16G-A); SB 6.9433 (26-B18F-P); P.Mich. VIII.505 (26-BS1-PI).
93 Cf. the “wandering” of papyri documented by the excavations at Kellis: P.Kellis I, pp. 3–7.
94 P.Mich. inv. 4711b (26-B17F-A) + P.Mich. inv. 4693 (26-BS1-PI).
95 = TM 61496, constituted by P.Mich. inv. 4795 (26-B17F-A) + P.Mich. inv. 4803 (26-B17F-A) + P.Mich. 
inv. 4804 (26-B17F-A) + P.Mich. inv. 4805 (26-B17F-A) + P.Mich. inv. 4807g (26-B18F-P) + P.Mich. inv. 
4752 (26-BS1-PI). Following Carlesimo 2022, 318–319 n. 5, I doubt the case for P.Cair.Mich. II 9 + III 6. 
These two fragments of Demosthenes’ On the Crown were excavated in entirely separate regions of 
the kôm but differ palaeographically.
96 See the introduction to P.Cair.Mich. III 6 for discussion.
97 The published papyri with the field number 26-B17E-A include SB VI 9247; SB VI 9496; P.Mich. VI  
381; P.Mich. IX 536; P.Cair.Mich. II 15. Geens 2013; in Vandorpe/Clarysse/Verreth 2015, 376 argues that 
the Kastor who submitted P.Mich. IX 536 (185) is the Kastor son of Papos of SB VI.9555a (160/1), which 
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The excavators, one observes, were sufficiently perplexed by the archaeological 
context of these papyri to make a note of it: implicit in the annotation is the ques-
tion of how the papyri came to be deposited so high. Two explanations come imme-
diately to mind: either they were deposited at a much later date – e.  g. during the 
structure’s post-abandonment phase – or the house’s archaeology was disturbed 
before excavation. Some combination of the two cannot be discounted, but my 
analysis certainly corroborates the latter. In either case, this is no primary deposit.

Unfortunately, the archaeology of Area G prevents us from ascertaining how 
the papyri in Area G were deposited or how many deposits there were. There may 
well have been a massive dump of mixed material like that found in the Cantina dei 
Papiri at Tebtynis,98 or there may have been a number of individual deposits in dif-
ferent locations across the neighborhood. Some combination of the two is possible, 
as well. But it seems clear that the material is heterogenous, and to press that point, 
I would offer an additional example drawn from the literary evidence. Thanks to 
the second and third volumes of Cairo papyri from the Michigan excavations, a suf-
ficient number of Homeric papyri from Area G have been published to illustrate 
in simple terms their diversity and distribution.99 On Figure 4 are mapped eleven 
fragments, all from the Iliad, and none of them from the same roll.100 Only a few 
were found in the same context: no fewer than eight separate structures in Area G 
yielded Homeric papyri. Several books are represented in multiple copies, with Iliad 
1 being especially well attested. Although the phenomenon of wandering papyri is 
attested elsewhere in Area G, the likelihood that these derive from a single library 
kept in a single house is low; in concert, the multiplicity of copies and their distribu-
tion across the neighborhood, rather, is evidence of multiple archaeological deposits 
or – like the Cantina dei Papiri – a larger dump of material that was amassed from 
various sources and subsequently deposited as part of some indeterminate process.

The evidence of the Homeric papyri dovetails nicely with the conclusions 
regarding Area G, more generally. There is a great deal of material, and although 
the circumstances of its deposit(s) are unclear, its diversity is more indicative of a 
multiplicity of origins than a single source, unless that single source was itself a 
composite. The disturbance of the archaeological record this article has identified 
provides a specific explanation for how it all came to be confused, but there could 

would situate the former text among the papers of Sokrates. But Geens 2013 also admits that “The 
exact relationship between Kastor and his descendants on the one hand, and Sokrates on the other, 
is unclear”. In the absence of a patronym, caution is warranted.
98 Gallazzi 1990.
99 On the Homeric papyri from Area G, see now Perrone 2022, 50–54.
100 For the case against P.Cair.Mich. II 2 + P.Cair.Mich. III 3, see Römer’s discussion of the later as 
well as Sampson 2022c.
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Figure 4: Area G Map, with findspots of Homeric papyri indicated

Table 3: Legend to Figure 4

P.Mich. 18.759 Iliad 7.1–13
P.Cair.Mich. 2 1 Iliad 1.292–297

P.Cair.Mich. 2 2 Iliad 2.723–791

P.Cair.Mich. 2 6 Iliad 3.348–353

P.Cair.Mich. 2 7 Iliad 7.26–35

P.Cair.Mich. 2 8 Iliad 14.511–515

P.Cair.Mich. 3 1 Iliad 1.91–96

P.Cair.Mich. 3 2 Iliad 1.159–167

P.Cair.Mich. 3 3 Iliad 2.734–739

P.Cair.Mich. 3 4 Iliad 4.356–359

P.Cair.Mich. 3 5 Iliad 21.207–216, 251–262
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well be others, especially given the decades-long interval between London’s 1891 
acquisition of the Chester lot and Michigan’s 1926/7 season in Area G. The finds as 
excavated need not represent the state of the neighborhood as it was inhabited; 
equally plausible is that they reflect a later habitation phase whose archaeology 
was further confused. The confusion limits the kinds of contextualizing conclusions 
that can be drawn: as regards the Homeric papyri, assigning the fragments to par-
ticular owners or individual libraries would be a fool’s errand.101 The unclear cir-
cumstances of deposit make it similarly difficult to assign the structures in Area G 
to particular residents.

Despite the challenges posed by the archaeology of Area G, there is nonethe-
less opportunity. Because they permit legacy data from the Michigan excavation 
to be brought to bear on papyri purchased on the market, the Mikkalos papyri are 
unique. Historical purchases are not always transparent about provenance, and as 
the records from Area G testify, there are a variety of reasons why the excavation 
data from even relatively careful early digs can challenge interpretation. It is there-
fore encouraging that the conclusions yielded by the interdisciplinary analysis of 
this group of texts are significant. By pinpointing on the map at least one historical 
occasion of digging on the kôm, they go some way towards explaining the confused 
states in which the vast papyrological output of Area G (and House B17, in particu-
lar) were preserved in the archaeological record.

Neither the earliest acquisitions of Karanis papyri nor the digging of Kom 
Aushim were single, momentary events, but were rather complex processes under-
taken over a number of years by a variety of different actors in a variety of differ-
ent guises. The scholarly reconstruction of those processes and their consequences 
accordingly requires a similarly sophisticated approach combining multiple dis-
ciplinary approaches – from history, papyrology, Museum archaeology, and field 
archaeology – to piece together what was happening in the field and in the shops 
of the Egyptian antiquities market decades ago. This paper has attempted one such 
analysis of the Mikkalos papyri, one that synthesizes these approaches to offer a 
brief but rich glimpse of one group of papyri’s history. From their findspot(s) in 
Area G to the late nineteenth century market, and from their acquisitions by various 
hands to their eventual institutional homes in London, Berlin, and Oxford, much 
more is clear about this group of papyri than is ordinarily true for purchases made 
on the market alone. And although my conclusions take issue with the tendency to 
discern Sokrates son of Sarapion throughout Area G, that too is an important step in 
the right direction for the scholarly understanding of the neighborhood.

101 So also Perrone 2022, 54: “Comunque certamente non si può attribuire al solo Socrate la quan-
tità davvero consistente di libri omerici”.
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